
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC ELECTRONIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR  
COUNCIL (IN-PERSON) MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 19, 2023 – 8:30 A.M. – 1 P.M. 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Gooe or CoruDUcr FoR CunneruT AND

Fonuen E¡-ecreD AND Puellc MeMeeRs oF
Cou n¡c r L AN D N o tt -G o u N c I L Colt¡ lvl ¡rrer M eM B E RS @Ð
Executive Committee
Approved by Gouncil: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 20'16, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed bv Council: November 29, 2018

Current and former elected and public members of Council and non-Council committee

members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College.

They shall:

l. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 1991 (RHPA),its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,

the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the

College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and

committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in all deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and

professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts

of interestst;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the

College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and

business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the

Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.
2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.



CCO Code of Conduct
November 29,2018

10. preserve conf,rdentiality of all information before Council or committee unless
disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

11. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which coulã be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a membcr of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. rcfrain from communicating to members and stakeholdet' on behalf of CCO
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14. be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Gode of Conduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and,

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the
Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential conseq.,"n"ir.

I, , Council member or non-Council committee member of the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct
for Current and Former Elected and Public Members of Council and Non-Council
Comrnittee Members, both during and follcrving rny term on CCo Council or a
committee

Signature Witness:

Date

3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation,
education and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not
communicating on behalf of CCO.

2



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Council: September 20,2014
Amended: June17,2020

In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO.

Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification.
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member
shall second the motion before it can be debated.

When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising
their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding

officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the
matter.

Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate

A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every
other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an

opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of
the presiding officer.

No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except
with the permission of the Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has
concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer
shall put the motion to a vote.

When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the
Council room, and no further debate is permitted.

I

10

11.



12.

Rules of Order of Council

No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

14 Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the
Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so.

15 The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

16 The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater
informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council
requires strict adherence.

17 Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings
and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices.
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials
related to the matter under debate (e.9., electronic copies of background
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may
make reasonable exceptions (e.9., if a Council Member is awaiting an important
message on an urgent matter).

19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking

In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of
Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and
consistent witlr these rules.

20

2



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at November 17, 2022

Acronym Full Name

ACE Accessing Centre for Expertise, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of
Toronto

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
ASNFPO Accountins Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations

BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
ccBc Colleee of Chiropractors of British Columbia

CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

cccr Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative
cco Colleee of Chiropractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association

CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act, 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese

CMOH Chief Medical Officer of Health

cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
covtD-19 SARS - CoV- 2
Code Health P r ofess ions P r ocedur al Co de, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo of of Ontario

CPGs Clinical Fractice Guidelines
CPMF Colleee Performance Measurement Framework

CPSO Colleee of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

D'Youville D'Youville Colleee - Chiropractic Program
DAC Desierated Assessment Centre

DEI Diversitv. Eouitv and Inclusion
FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the of
FCCR(C) Fellow of the of
FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational

Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the of Sciences

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FOt Freedom of Information
Grc Guaranteed Invesfrnent Certificate
HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

HIA Heqlth Insurance Act, 1990

HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Resulatory Advisory Council

HPRO Health Profession Regulators of Ontario

rcRc Inquiries. Complaints and Reports Committee

KPI Key Performance Indicators
LSO Law Socie8 of Ontario
MESPO Model for the Etaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontmio

MOH Ministrv of Health
MTCU Ministrv of Traihine, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

NHSU National Universitv of Health Sciences - Chiropractic Proglam

NWG Nominations Working Group
NYCC New York Chiropractic Collese



2

Acronym FullName

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association
ODP Ottice ljevelopment Proiect
oFc Office of the Faimess Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Insurance Plan
OHPR Ontario Health Professions Regulators
OHR OntarioHealthRe gulators.ca (HPRO's nublic-focused website)
OHRC Ontario Human Riehts Commission
PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act. 2004
PPA Peer and Practice Assessment
PIPEDA Personal Informqtion and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
PSA Professional Standards Authoritv for Health and Social Care (U.K.)
PVO Prosecutorial Viabilitv Opinion
QA Oualitv Assurance
RFP Request for Proposal
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I
SCERP Specified Continuine Education or Remediation Prosram
SOAR Society of Ontario Adiudicators and Resulators
SPPA Statutorv Powers Procedural Act. 1990
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses" Opporhrnities. Threats
TCL Terms. Conditions and Limitations
UOIT Universi8 of Ontario Institute of Technoloey
UQTR Universitd du Oudbec d Trois-Rividres
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workolace Safetv and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA (Public) 1 
 

COUNCIL MEETING  
 

Wednesday, April 19, 2023 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 2  
 

In Person for CCO Council  3 
 

Attendees 
 

Council members  
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar 

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 
Ms Beth Ann Kenny, Recording Secretary  

Mr. Robert MacKay, Facilitator 4 
 

 
AGENDA (Public) 5  

 
Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 CALL TO ORDER 7 AND LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  8 

Welcome Mizel/ 
Gravelle 

High 

     
 

1 Informa�on which is included for background or context (i.e., not requiring Council ac�on) is shaded in grey.  
2 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
3 Guests to atend virtually un�l further no�ce (please advise Rose Bustria if you would like to atend). 
4  To facilitate the President’s chairing of this mee�ng (at the President’s request and as directed by the 
Execu�ve). 
5 If you would like the complete background documenta�on rela�ng to any item on the agenda, please speak 
to Dr. Mizel, President and Ms Willson (informa�on may be subject to confiden�ality provisions). 
6 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
7 Council members to be familiar with and comply with the rules of order. If required, Dr. Mizel, President, to 
appoint a parliamentarian.  
 
8 Land acknowledgment 

Let us acknowledge that in our meeting space today, we gather on the Treaty Lands and Territory of the 
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as well as the traditional territory of the Haudenosaunee and the 
Huron-Wendat peoples.  We recognize that we have a responsibility to work towards meaningful reconciliation 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples and through this land acknowledgement, we are honoring 
the land, Indigenous peoples, and deepening our understanding of truth. 

 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

2 
 

2 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High 
     

10 1.1 Discipline Committee Report     
11 1.1.1 HPRO Training (Discipline) – 

  May 26, June 9, 2023 
FYI   

14 1.2  Fitness to Practise Committee 
 Report  

   

15 1.3  Inquiries, Complaints, and 
 Reports Committee (ICRC) 
 Report  

   

 Health Professions Appeal and Review 
Board (HPARB) Decisions 9 

   

17 1.3.1  Shannel Pearson and Chris  
  Triantafilou (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld)  

   

35 1.3.2  Channel Pearson and Guy  
  Pelletier (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld) 

   

54 1.4 Patient Relations Committee Report    
56 1.5 Advertising Committee Report      
     
 2. Main Agenda  Adopt Council High 

     
 2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real 
or 
perceived 
conflicts 
of 
interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 
10 
 
 

Council High 

 
9 HPARB decisions are public documents and are included in the Council informa�on packages for transparency 
and to demonstrate feedback on ICRC decision making from an independent review body.   
10 Standing conflicts of interest do not need to be declared at every mee�ng. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

3 
 

3 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 3. Adoption of Minutes 11     
     
 4. Committee Reports     

73 4.1 Executive Committee Report  
 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 

Mizel/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 

     
 Move in Camera 12    
     
     
 Move Out of Camera and Ratify 

Decisions made In Camera 
   

  
 

   

 Dr. B.J. Hardick v CCO 13    
202 4.1.17 Endorsement of Justice O’Brien 

  re: hearing on February 17, 2023 
Review 
Decision 

Council Medium 

211 4.1.18 Order dated February 17, 2023 FYI   
214 4.1.19 Grey Areas dated April 2023  

  “The Legal Value of a Sound 
  Policy-Making Process” 

FYI   

     
 Ministry of Health     
 College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) 14  
Verbal 
Report 

Friedman High 

217 4.1.20 CPMF Report (filed March 31, 
  2023) 

Review Council High 

337 4.1.21 Key Performance Indicators dated 
  November 21, 2021 

   

338 4.1.22  DEI Plan (approved April 20, 
  2022)  

   

 
11 Only members present at the mee�ng should approve the minutes. Once Council minutes are approved, 
they are posted on the CCO website.   
12 Council may go in camera to discuss items iden�fied in Ss. 7 (2) of the Code, such as financial maters, 
government rela�ons, and advice from lawyers.   
13 Court orders are public documents. Legal advice, if any, to be discussed in camera.   
14 CCO’s third CPMF Report was submited on March 31, 2023 and is available on CCO’s website. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

4 
 

4 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

346 4.1.23 HPRO Information re: DEI tools 
  and resources 15 

Verbal 
Report/ 
Incorpor-
ate into 
CCO 
Plan 

Kenny/ 
DEI 
Officers 

Medium 

 Other Ministry Related Matters Verbal 
Report/ 
Review 

Willson/ 
Friedman/ 
Council 

Medium 

394 4.1.24 Circulation of Proposed  
  Amendments to Registration  
  Regulation: Creation of  
  Emergency Class of Registration 
  – February 28, 2023  

   

414 4.1.25 Posting of CCO Draft Regulation 
  on Regulatory Registry 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

419 4.1.26 Regulatory Registry – Current 
  Proposals 
 

   

 Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023 (Proposed 
“As of Right” Legislation and “Reducing 
Wait Times for Publicly Funded 
Surgeries and Diagnostics”) 

   

426 4.1.27 News Release dated January 19, 
  2023 entitled “New “As of Right” 
  Rules a First in Canada to Attract 
  More Health Care Workers to 
  Ontario” 

   

429 4.1.28 News Release dated February 21, 
  2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing 
  Wait Times for Publicly Funded 
  Surgeries and  Diagnostics” 

   

439 4.1.30 Correspondence dated February 
  9, 2023 to Ms Henry, Director, 
  Health Workforce Regulatory 
  Oversight Branch, MOH from 
  Elinor Larney, Chair, HPRO 

   

443 4.1.31 Extract from Bill 60, Your Health 
  Act, 2023  

   

 
15 The Pa�ent Rela�ons Commitee is reviewing the DEI Plan to incorporate best prac�ces from the work 
conducted by HPRO. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

5 
 

5 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

460 4.1.32  Communication dated February 
  22, 2023 re: Your Health: A Plan 
  for Connected and Convenient 
  Care 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

463 4.1.33 Media dated March 9, 2023  
  entitled “Ontario considers  
  expanding scope of practice for 
  nurses, pharmacists, and more” 

   

465 4.1.34 Media dated March 13, 2023  
  “Gelinas worried unregistered 
  health workers might abuse  
  system” 

   

468 4.1.35  Media dated April 5, 2023  
  entitled “Ontario to expand list of 
  tests midwives can order;  
  midwives say it’s a first step” 

   

     
 Strategic Planning    

493 4.1.38  Article from October 21, 2022 
  meeting entitled “Cyber  
  resilience:12 key controls to  
  strengthen your security” 

   

496 4.1.39  Various Cyber Security Training 
  Sessions 16 

   

     
 Communications/Media Back- 

ground/ 
Context 

  

498 4.1.40 Communication exchange with 
  CBC Reporter 

   

504 4.1.41  CBC article dated March 11,  
  2023 entitled “Backlogged  
  tribunals creating distress for 
  Ontarians waiting months or  
  years to be heard” 

   

512 4.1.42 President’s Message – March 28, 
  2023 

Review Council Medium 

 Council and Committees    
515 4.1.43  Health and Safety Protocols for 

  Hybrid (In-Person/Virtual)  
Approve Council Medium 

 
16 Staff atending. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

6 
 

6 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

  Council and Committee Meetings 
  (draft) 

517 4.1.44  COVID-19 Protocols for Hybrid 
  (In-Person/Virtual) Council and 
  Committee Meetings 

Revoke 
(if new 
Protocol 
approved) 

Council Medium 

518 4.1.45  Internal Policy I-021: Guidance 
  for New Committee Chairs 

Approve Council Medium 

 Elections    
520 4.1.46  Announcement of Election  

  Results 
Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

522 4.1.47 Distribution of Election  
  information dated January 26, 
  2023 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

547 4.1.48 Distribution of Candidate  
  Biographies in District 6 dated 
  March 6, 2023 

   

550 4.1.49  Distribution of further Candidate 
  information in District 6 dated 
  March 10, 2023 

   

553 4.1.50  Distribution of ballots in District 
  6 dated March 13, 2023 

   

555 4.1.51  Communication from OCA re: 
  Voting for 2023 Elections to  
  CCO Council 

   

     
 Other Chiropractic/Health Related 

Stakeholders 
Primarily 
FYI 
(subject to 
questions) 

Council Medium 

 Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA)    
 Animal Chiropractic Verbal 

Report 
Willson Medium 

610 4.1.54  S-009: Chiropractic Care of  
  Animals 

Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

614 4.1.55  Historical Correspondence re: 
  Chiropractic Care of Animals 
  with CVO 

Review Council Medium 

628 4.1.56  New Discussion paper from  
  Ministry of Agriculture, Food and 
  Rural Affairs dated March 1,  
  2023 

Review 
 

Council Medium 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

7 
 

7 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

655 4.1.57 Correspondence dated February 
  16, 2023 to Ms Willson from Ms 
  Caroline Brereton, CEO, OCA 

Review Council Medium 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 Federation of Canadian Chiropractic 
(FCC) 

Primarily 
FYI 
subject to 
questions 

  

 College of Chiropractors of Alberta    
675 4.1.61 Hearing Tribunal Written  

  Decision and Orders for the  
  Hearing of Dr. Curtis  Wall on 
  January 27, 2023 

Back-
ground/ 
Context 

  

797 4.1.63 Letter to CCO dated March 7, 
  2023 

   

800 4.1.64 CCGI Stakeholder Report –  
  March 2023 

   

 Health Profession Regulators of Ontario 
(HPRO) 

   

807 4.1.65 HPRO Remarks to Ontario’s  
  Standing Committee on Social 
  Policy Bill 60 Your Health Act, 
  2023 (March 21, 2023) 

Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

811 4.1.66 HPRO Correspondence dated 
  March  10, 2023, re: Registration 
  Open for Spring 2023 Discipline 
  Orientation Workshop – Basic 
  and Advanced Sessions 

   

816 4.1.67 HPRO Legislative Update for 
  February 2023 

   

 Other Ontario Health Regulatory 
Colleges  

   

830 4.1.68 Michael Venneri v. College of 
  Traditional Chinese Medicine 
  Practitioners and Acupuncturists 
  of Ontario 

   

     



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

8 
 

8 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

841 4.2 Quality Assurance Committee Report Report/ 
Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Groulx High 

850 4.2.3  Responses of CCO Members  
  Registered in the General (i.e., 
  Active) Class of Registration for 
  2023 Renewal of Selected  
  Practice-Related Questions  

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

     
851 4.3 Registration Committee Report Report/ 

Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 
 

De 
Domenico
/ 
Willson/ 
Friedman/ 
Council 

High 

854 4.3.1 CCO distribution of proposed 
  amendments to Registration  
  Regulation (Emergency Class of 
  Registration) February 28, 2023 

Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

883 4.3.2  Communication with the Ministry 
  re: CCO’s Emergency Class – 
  Regulatory Registry Posting 

   

889 4.3.3 Feedback as of April 10, 2023 
 
 
 
 

Review Council High 

898 4.3.4 Application for Temporary  
  Certificate of Registration (draft) 

Approve Council Medium 

902 4.3.5  Application for Temporary  
  Certificate of Registration  
  (current) 

   

 Office of the Fairness Commissioner Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

906 4.3.6 CCO’s 2021 Fair Registration 
  Practices Report 
 

   

925 4.3.7  Notification dated March 15,  
  2023 re: Fair Registration  
  Practice reporting 

   

932 4.3.8 OFC Newsletter dated March    



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

9 
 

9 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

  2023 – Regulator Spotlight 
     
 5. New Business    TBD   
     
 6. FYI   Back-

ground/ 
Context 
only  

  

     
937 6.1 Chiropractic and Manual Therapies 

 (2023) “A  two-year follow up: 
 Twitter activity regarding 
 misinformation about spinal 
 manipulation chiropractic care and 
 boosting immunity during the 
 COVID-19 pandemic” 

   

949 6.2 Press Release dated March 30, 2023 
 “Province Helping More Ontario 
 Students Become Doctors at Home in 
 Ontario”  

   

954 6.3 Announcement dated April 5, 2023 
 “CPSO Removes Barriers for 
 Internationally Educated Physicians” 

   

957 6.4 CTV news March 24, 2023 “Coun. 
 Josh Matlow broke code of conduct 
 on Twitter, should face 10-day pay 
 suspension, says commissioner” 
 

   

968 6.5 Grey Areas (March 2023)     
970 6.6 Council Members Terms (dated 

 March 17, 2023) 
   

     
     
 DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 17    
     
 ADJOURNMENT     
     

 
All Executive Committee and Council meetings are in person and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
unless otherwise noted.  
 

 
17 Please mark your calendar and advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to atend any mee�ngs. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

10 
 

10 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2023 Wednesday, May 17 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August 11 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, October 27 18 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 

Council Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2023 Wednesday, April 19 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Thursday, April 20 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (Elections) CCO 

 Tuesday, June 20 6:00 p.m. Presidents’ Dinner 19  TBD 

 Wednesday, June 21 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Wednesday, June 21 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. AGM 
 
 
 
 

The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, 
Yorkville 
Barclay Room 20 

 Friday, September 8 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Meeting White Oaks Resort and Spa 21 

 Saturday, September 9 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 Sunday, September 10 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 Thursday, November 23 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (budget) CCO 

 Friday, November 24 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

 Friday, November 24 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. Holiday Party TBD 

 

 

 
18 Note change in date to October 27, 2023 (from October 20, 2023). 
19 For current and former BDC Chairs and CCO Presidents. 
 
20 The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, Yorkville, 220 Bloor Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5S 1T8 
htps://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto/ 
 
21 White Oaks Resort and Spa: 253 Taylor Rd, Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario 
www.whiteoaksresort.com 
 

https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto/
http://www.whiteoaksresort.com/










































































































































































































































@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tiordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

262
fhe Canadian Chiropractic Examinins Board (CCEB): conducts clinical competency examinations for individuals seeking licensure to practise
:hiropractic in Canada. The CCEB is responsible for the development, delivery and administration of three examinations:

. Component A - Chiropractic Knowledge

. Component B - Clinical Decision Making

. Component C - Clinical Skills Demonstration

\s a member of its board of directors, CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board
rleetings include presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of
:he examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, as well as the election of various board positions the review and approval
rf financial information. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

fhe Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College (CMCC) is the only English-speaking accredited chiropractic college in Canada. CMCC is a member of
:he FCC and attends those meetings to participate in discussions and policy development around accreditation and educational. CCO is in
:ontinuous communication with CMCC concerning the requirements for new graduates to become registered with CCO following graduation. CCO,

llong with other stakeholders and system partners will often present to students at CMCC on matters related to professional regulation. CCO

rresented on two occasions to CMCC students in 2O22 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26,2022 to third year students and
rn November 7,2022 to first year students. These presentations are included in the September 9. 2022 (page 1008) and November 24. 2022 (page
/49) Council packages.

fhe Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) is the largest professional association for chiropractors in Ontario. CCO continuously engages in
:ommunication with the OCA. The OCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
rf draft documents for feedback.

lhe Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA) the largest professional association for chiropractors in Canada. CCO continuously engages in
:ommunication with the CCA. The CCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
rf draft documents for feedback.

lhe Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) is an Ontario chiropractic advocacy group that exists to heighten public awareness of the multitude of health
renefits associated with chiropractic care. CCO continuously engages in communication with the AFC. The AFC is a stakeholder for CCO and is

ncluded as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution of draft documents for feedback.

45lPage



@
Collegre of Chiropractos of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropr€ticiens de foilatio CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

263
ICO received and participated in communication with various chiropractic associations on topics related to orthotics and assistive devices with
.espectto&i!ggs@Bes,chiropracticcareofanimal5and@relatedtoelectionstoCCoCouncil.

46lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 264CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Standard 6: The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships and responds in a timely and effective manner to changing public/societal expectations.

The intent of Standard 5 is to demonstrate that a College has formed the necessary relationships with system partners to ensure that it receives and

:ontributes information about relevant changes to public expectations. This could include both relationships where the College is asked to provide information by

;ystem partners, or where the College proactively seeks information in a timely manner.

o Pleose provide examples oJ key successes ond ochievements from the reporting yedr where the College engaged with po,tners, including potients/public to ensure

it can respond to changing public/societol expectotions (e.9., COVID-7g Pandemic, mentol heolth, labor mobility etc.). Pleose olso describe the motters thot were

discussed with eoch ofthese partners ond how the informotion thatthe College obtoined/provided was used to ensure the College could respond to o public/societdl

expectation.

o ln oddition to the portners it regulorly interocts with, the College is osked to include inJormation obout how it identilies relevant system portners, mointains

relotionships so that the College is able access relevont informotion from portne$ in o timely manner, and leveroges the informotion obtained to respond

(specific examples of when ond how o College responded is requested in Stonddrd 7).

Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): CCO Council and committee members attended various training sessions conducted by
HRPO related to conducting discipline hearings, governance and other professional regulatory topics. Staff participated in various HRPO

meetings, committees and educational sessions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, communications with the Ministry of Health, Quality
Assurance, Practice Advisory, CPMF and DEI training. Council and committee members applied the knowledge from discipline training to
serve on seven discipline panels in 2022, which were all uncontested hearings, decided by agreed statement of fact and penalty. CCO

actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and will be reviewing and applying its resources and
guides in 2023. The work of the HPRO in these areas has helped inform CCO work on Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion. Participating in the
Quality Assurance and Practice Advisory groups has helped inform amendments to CCO's Qualitv Assurance program, including introducing
more mandatorv continuins education proqrams for the July 'J.,2022 - June 30, 2024 CE cycle, updating a second version of the Self
Assessment for more experienced practitioners, and updating Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 to include more examples and case

scenarios to be analyzed as part of Peer and Practice Assessment.

CCO filed its 2021Annual Report to the OFC, posted on CCO's website. CCO continues to be meet its key performance indicators for
registering applicants in a timely, consistent and transparent manner, as reported to the OFC, including those registering under labour
mobility and from other jurisdictions outside of Canada. CCO regularly communicates with other regulators inside and outside Canada to
obtain letters of standing and other information relevant to registration of applicants.

47 lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

265
ICO discussed and reviewed practices of other Ontario health regulatory colleges in implementing and revoking policies related the COVID-

[9 pandemic. These updates were then communicated to members and stakeholders and posted on the CCO website to be implemented.

ICO attends annual meetings of the CCEB as a member of the board, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board meetings

nclude presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of the

txamination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, the election of various board positions the review and approval of financial

nformation. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

ICO approved in principle a draft national code of ethics approved by the FCC in an effort to help harmonize standards across Canada. This draft

rill be brought forward for final approval in 2023.

ICO presented on two occasions to CMCC students in 2022 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26, 2022 to third year students

rnd on November 7,2O22 to first year students. These presentations are included in the September 9, 2022 (page 1008) and November 24, 2022

,page 749) Council packages.

:CO received rcmmunications from chiropractic professional associations on business practices as they related to orthotics and assistive devices

rnd recent discipline decision on this topic. CCO's Quality Assurance Committee reviewed this issue and CCO Council approved amendments to

itandard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices. Amendments

:mphasize the sections of the professional misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees

nust be disclosed in advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third

tarty payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

f,n December 2,2022, proposed amendments to By-law 6 and By-law 12 were circulated to stakeholders, including members, for feedback on

ncreasing the cooling off period from to six years from three years the amount of time that must have elapsed since a disciplinary finding or

lisqualification from serving against any prospective Council candidate or committee appointee. This circulation is available at the @llqingljn!.
Extensive feedback was received from members and stakeholders, including chiropractic patients, members of the public and chiropractic

lrganizations. Feedback and final approval for these amendments were reviewed and considered in January 2023.

3CO representatives attended the Ontario Chiropractic Association's AGM and Gala on January 29,2022.

43lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023 266

Yes

Ci'rase fil rte fi

The College fulfills this requirement:

' Please insert a Iink to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes that addresses disclosu re and requests for information.

3CO has various policies and by-laws intended to maintain privacy and the prevent unauthorized disclosure of information:
r CCO has a Privacv Code outlining the privacy practices of the College, available on the CCO website.
. CCO Council and committee members and peer assessors are required to sign annually a confidentialitv undertaking.
r CCO staff members have all signed a confidentialitv undertakins with regard to working remotely. This undertaking outlines the

expectations of maintaining privacy and confidentiality specific to remote work.
r CCO staff members have participated in various continuing education events related to confidentiality and privacy in the face of the

COVID-19 pandemic, specifically addressing working remotely.
3CO makes member information public in accordance with the public register requirements of the Health Professions Procedural Code and
3v-law 17: Public Reeister.

The College demonstrates
how it:

uses policies and
processes to govern the
disclosure ol and
requests for
information;

a.

I
Lllr

Fz
LU

lll(,
z

z
o
=
d
o
u-z
+
z

oo

o
G,

o2
F

491?3gg



KD
College o{ Chiropraciors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

267
Yes

f the rcsponse is 'partially" or "no', describe the College's plon to Iully implement this medsure. Outline the steps (i.e., drofting policies, consulting
.eviewing/revising existing poticies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expeded timelines ond ony boniers to implementation.

n conjunction with its lT providers, CCO will continue prioritizing lT and cyber security reviews in2023, enhancing security, and performing

ndependent assessments.

stokeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes to

CCO implemented several cyber security initiatives in2O22:
o CCO conducted an internal audit of its information technology and cyber security processes

. CCO continued to apply and expand its use of two-factor authentication access to CCO emails and files while working remotely.

r CCO approved several amendments to record keeping standards to enhance requirements for members' use of electronic record

keeping and cyber security (referenced later in this document)

address cybersecurity and accidental or unauthorized

disclosure of information.

uses cybersecurity

measures to Protect
against unauthorized
disclosure of
information; and

uses policies, practices

and processes to address

accidental or
unauthorized disclosure

of information.

Benchmorked Evidence

lL

ilt.

50lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2023

268

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College evaluates its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they are up to date

andrelevanttothecurrentpracticeenvironmentandindicatethepagenumber(s) ORpleasebrieflydescribetheCollege'sevaluationprocess(e.g.,what

triggers an evaluation, how often are evaluations conducted, what steps are being taken, which stakeholders are being engaged in the evaluation and how are

they involved).

At the first committee meeting, following the constitution of new committees annually, every committee reviews all of its standards of
tractice, policies, guidelines, policies and by-laws and identifies documents that should be reviewed and considered for amendments.

:ommittees may recommend amendments to documents for various reasons, including receiving a memorandum from the lnquiries,

3omplaints and Reports Committee on recent complaints matters, complying with legislative and regulatory amendments, researching

lnd applying best practices from other professional regulators and other jurisdictions and other communications from system partners

;uch as the Office of the Fairness Commissioner, chiropractic professional associations and malpractice insurance providers and members

rf the public. The following are examples of revisions made to CCO documents in 2022:

r Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping and

Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary

to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is

a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise

professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.

Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.

This includes ensuring that electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,

2004 (PHIPA), having cyber security protections in place to protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative

that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information. ln the process of this review, practices and standards of other Ontario

a.The College regularly evaluates

its policies, standards of

practice, and practice

guidelines to determine

whether they are

appropriate, or require

revisions, or if new direction

or guidance is required based

on the current practice

environment.

Benchmdrked Evidence

rfr
ir
6
o
&.E3(J2

=<oh
d

oF
J
f
(9
LIJ
t
lr";
z

oo

51 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Onl6rio

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 269

a

health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)

as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30, 2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects
of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.
Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another
individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity
to consent and/or substitute-decision making. Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privary and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's
choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients was amended to include requirements that members should be particularly
sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain
language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in
identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,
using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a

patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any
patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any
safety, public health and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice 5-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were
amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics. The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional
misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in
advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

a

a

o fees cha for orthotics or assistive device must be ied in accordance with the member's fee

52lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Oniario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 270
schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.
o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.
o Recommendations for amendments include the use of gender neutral pronouns.

Review and amendments to these documents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as
professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.

CCO updated its COVID-19 suidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government and
adopted COVID-19 protocols for hvbrid meetines (page 585 of the February 24,2023 public Council package) reviewed and
amended throughout the year.

a

"eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond dny bdrriers to implementotion.

53 | Page



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

271
Yes

f the response is "paftidlly" or "no", describe the College's plon to fully implement this measure. Outline the steps
.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and ony bdrciers to implementotion.

(i.e., drofting policies, consulting stokeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College develops or amends its policies, standards

address the listed components and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's development and amendment process.

3CO reviews all its by-laws, internal policies standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis or if there is a regulatory

reason for review, such as a change in legislation, a direction from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or Discipline

Committee or a change in public health requirements (e.g., related to the COVID-19 pandemic). ln its review, CCO committees will include

as part of their review, as included in committee materials:
r Evidence and data related to inquiries, complaints and discipline trends and results

e Risk based analysis posed to patients and the public, including the review of journal and academic articles

. Comparable documents from other Ontario Health regulatory colleges and other chiropractic regulators across Canada and

sometimes in other jurisdictions (USA Australia, UK)

Submissions and responses to distributions and requests for feedback from members, patients, stakeholders, system partners,

professional associations, academic institutions, and professional malpractice insurance providers.

of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they

b. Provide information on how
the College takes into
account the following
components when

developing or amending
policies, standards and
practice guidelines:

i. evidence and data;

ii. the risk posedto patients/

the public;

iii. the current Practice

environmenU

iv. alignment with other
health regulatory Colleges

(where appropriate, for
example where practice

matters overlap);

v. expectations of the public;

and

vi. stakeholder views and

feedback.

Benchmorked Evidence

54lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of onlario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

272
Yes

. please briefly describe how the College reviews its policies, guidelines, standards and Code of Ethics to ensure that they promote Diversity, Equity and lnclusion.

. Please highlight some examples of policies, guidelines, standards or the Code of Ethics where Diversity, Equity and lnclusion are reflected.

ICO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following

locuments and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Plan

o Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients
r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary

r Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
r Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-

economic status or disability
Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities

r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;

r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with
Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:

o provide health care services without discrimination; and

o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policv P-045: CCO'S Leqislation and Ethics Examination
. CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the

Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the

examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

Policv P-057: AccessibiliW Policv
r CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

The College fulfills this requirement:c. The college's policies,

guidelines, standards and

Code of Ethics should
promote Diversity, Equity,

and lnclusion (DEl) so that
these principles and values

are reflected in the care
provided by the registrants of
the College.

55lPage



KD
College of Chiropmctors of Ontario
lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

273

Yes

Competencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25, 20211
r The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of

practice in Ontario.
o Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

Various amendments to CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines reflect DEI principles as discussed further in this document.
Amendments include Standard of Practice 5-013; Consent, Guideline G-001: Communication
with Patients, Policv P-045: CCO's Legislation and Ethics Examination, and CCO's initial resistration forms.

4r/oltlcncl,i <;rnrnelfs /rl c/crificoiic n (<:plir; na lJ

CCO will continue to review its by-laws, standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as its processes and educational
opportunities for short term and long term objectives in enhancing DEI related issues.

56lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

274

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place to ensu re the documentation provided by ca ndidates meets registration requirements a nd indicate
page number OR please briefly describe in a few words the processes and checks that are carried out.

Please insert a link and indlcate the page number OR please briefly describe an overview of the process undertaken to review how a College operationalizes its
registration processes to ensure documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements (e.g., communication with other regulators in other
jurisdictions to secure records of good conduct, confirmation of information from supervisors, educators, etc.).

ICO's Prospective Members section of its website includes all regulations, by-laws, policies, application forms, decision-making charts for
'equirements for registration and links to outside organizations, such as educational accrediting agencies and the clinical competency

-'xamining board.

3CO's Registration Coordinator receives completed applications from prospective members and verifies them to determine if all the
'equirements for registration are included. As part of the registration application submission, CCO will receive documents from outside
lrganizations, such as transcripts from accredited chiropractic educational institutions, examination results from the CCEB and Vulnerable
iector Police Checks from police departments.

)nce a completed application is received and reviewed bythe Registration Coordinator, it will then be reviewed bythe Registrar and
Seneral Counsel. The Registration Coordinator and Registrar and General Counsel will review each application to ensure that all
'equirements for registration in CCO's Reeistration Regulation and various registration by-laws and polices have been met.

f any application is missing a requirement or if there is a question as to the completeness of an application, the applicant will be asked to
lrovide additional information.

a. Processes are in place to
ensure that those who meet the

registration requirements receive

a certificate to practice

(e.g., how it operationalizes the

registration of members,

including the review and

validation of submitted

documentation to detect

fraudulent documents,

confirmation of information from

supervisors, etc.)1-

t
ol
oE
c:z:,.i<YFF.n(J

E.
o_

oF
F
J
co

F
=tJt

6
z

o
O

5TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

any certificate of registration, including whether an applicant is eligible to be granted an exemption from a particular requirement.

n5
3nly after review and approvalfrom the Registrar and General Counsel, will an application

be issued a certificate of registration. Approximately 95% of applications are approved by the Registrar and General Counsel.

f there is a question whether the applicant meets the requirements for registration, the application and additional information will be

referred to the Registration Committee for review and a decision. Review of the application may include additional information for review,

such as a member's professional portfolio, outlining their quality assurance and continuing education activities, letters of good standing

lrom other regulated jurisdictions in which the member practised and any applicable letters from medical or legal practitioners or experts.

Ihe Registration Committee will also review CCO lggla.ljcns and p[gigg as well as decision-making charts based on specific criteria and

past precedents to help guide its decisions for @9.-EC-n[bers and new applicants.

Following review of an application and all applicable information, the Registration Committee may make the following decisions:

. Register the applicant
r Register the applicant with terms, conditions and limitations
e Not register the applicant
. Require the applicant to complete further requirements to be eligible for registration
. Request further information

for registration be approved and the applicant

58lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

276
Choose an item.

Yes

Choose an item

lllhe respor;se is "aartially" ar "nt:", is the Coll*ge plt:nnirtr:l ta inprove ita petarfianc? o'er fhr nexffeportina peri<sril

,'1d rl itio n a i can) n( nts fa t dti rification (optia nal)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place for identifying best practices to assess whether an applicant meets registration requirements
(e.g., how to assess English proficiency, suitability to practice etc.), a link to Council meeting materials where these have been discussed and decided upon and

indicate page numbers OR please briefly describe the process and checks that are carried out.

Please provide the date when the criteria to assess registration requirements was last reviewed and updated.

Ihe Registration Committee annually reviews its regulations, policies and by-laws related to criteria and processes for registration. CCO

also reviews its annual recommendations from the Ontario Fairness Commissioner for ways to further ensure its registration processes are
tair, impartial, and transparent. CCO's bi-annual meetings with the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic often include discussions and
tharing of best practices regarding registration issues, accreditation and movement of members and applicants across jurisdictions within
Canada.

Ad{Irlioro/ ca,?rn e nls for cla rificdlion (optit:nal}

b. The College periodically

reviews its criteria and

processes for determining

whether an applicant meets

its registration requirements,

against best practices (e.9.,

how a College determines

language proficiency, how

Colleges detect fraudulent

applications or documents

including applicant use of
third parties, how Colleges

confirm registration status in

other jurisdictions or
professions where relevant

etc.).

59lPage



KD
College of Chiroprcctors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric CCO CPMF Recorting Tool - March 31, 2023

277

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the currency and competency requirements registrants are required to meet.

Please briefly describe howthe College identified currency and competency requirements.

Please provide the date when currency and competency requirements were last reviewed and updated.

please briefly describe how the College monitors that registrants meet currency and competency requirements (e.g., self-declaration, audits, ra'rdom audit etc.)

and how frequently this is done.

Ihe Registration Committee reviews its annual renewal processes each year to ensure that members self-declare on various aspects of

lheir practice, including their business addresses, preferred methods of communications with CCO, professional malpractice insurance

provider and coverage, mental and physical competency to practise chiropractic, good character reporting, reporting of any criminal

charges or convictions or findings of professional negligence and other practice information. Every two years, during the same renewal

period, members are also required to report on their compliance with CCO's Quality Assurance requirements, such as compliance with self

assessment and continuing education. Quality Assurance requirements and reporting are found in the Quality Assurance section of this

document. lnformation related to 2022 renewal can be found at the fq[lqi4gfn!.

CCO's Registration Committee reviews legislation and regulation, specifically the RHPA and its regulations, for any updates tt registration,

renewal or public register requirements to ensure its renewal process is compliant with existing legislation and regulation. As well, in its

review,the Registration Committeewill reviewall relevant bv-laws, resulationsand policiesforanyupdatestothe renewal crocess. lf

necessary, CCO will consult with outside legal counsel for any advice.

For the 2023 renewal process, the Registration Committee met in July 2O22 to review the 2023 renewal memorandum and online

questionnaire and made recommendations to Council, which were approved in September 2022.

lf a member answers certain questions, such as disclosing that they have a criminal offence or charge or that they lack the mental or

physical capacity to practise chiropractic, CCO's Registration Coordinator will automatically be notified by email through the renewal

system, and that member's renewal will be pending a review by the Registrar and if necessarY, the Registration Committee. Following

review, the renewal status of the member may be approved, denied or approved with terms, conditions and limitations.

c. A risk-based approach is used

to ensure that currencyz and

other competency

requirements are monitored
and regularly validated (e.g.,

procedures are in place to
verify good character,

continuing education,
practice hours requirements
etc.).

60lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 278CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

assessed as part of registration processes are included (e.g., during renewal of a certificate of registration, or at any other time).

Choose an item
Ad,Ji!ianni ( om nlc |lts Icr clorifi(.:atiafi lopli()na!)

61 lPage



KD
College of Chiroptactors of Ontario
[Ordre des ChiroprEticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

279

Choose an item

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the most recent assessment report by the OFC OF please provide a summary of outcorne assessment report.

Where an action plan was issued, is it: completed

ICO has continuously updated the "Prospective Members" section of its website to ensure that its registration practices are transparent,

)bjective, impartial and fair. These updates, based on its meetings and self assessments with the OFC, have included more links to outside

)rganizations, costs associated with the registration process, lists of requirements and forms to be completed for registration with CCO,

inks to all relevant by-laws, regulations and policies associated with registration, and flowcharts to visualize requirements for registration

'or different types of applicants, depending on their circumstances.

3CO's meetings with chiropractic stakeholders, such as educational accrediting boards and clinical competency examination providers

nclude discussions and meetings to ensure that CCO's registration practices, including those administered by third parties, are transparent,

rbjective, impartial and fair.

lCo's OFC reports can all be found at the followine link.

a. The College addressed all

recommendations, actions

for improvement and next

steps from its most recent

Audit by the Office of the

Fairness Commissioner (OFC).

62lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticbns de lOntatio CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

280
Acldil:ifrnnl carrments for clorificotictn (if needed)

63lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontar,ic
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

281

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

a

Please briefly describe a recent example of howthe College has assisted its registrants in the uptake ofa new oramended standard:

- Name of Standard

- Duration of period that support was provided

- Activities undertaken to support registrants

- % of registrants reached/participated by each activity

- Evaluation conducted on effectiveness of support provided

Does the College a lways provide this level of sup port:
lf not, pledse provide o brief explonation:

Yes

Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine and Standard of Practice 5-022: Ownershio, Storage, Securitv and Destruction of
Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary
to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is

a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise
professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.
Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.
This includes ensuringthat electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,
2004 (PHIPA), having cyber security protections in place to protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative
that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information. ln the process of this review, practices and standards of other Ontario
health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.
Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)

as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30,2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous'Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects

a. Provide examples of how the
College assists registrants in

implementing required
changes to standards of
practice or practice guidelines

(beyond

communicating the existence
of new standard, FAQs, or
supporting documents).

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to
support registrants when
implementing changes to
standards of practice or
guidelines. Such activities could
include carrying out a follow-up
survey on how registrants are
adopting updated standards of
practice and addressing
identifiable gaps.

Lll(J

=(J
E
o-
oF
F
J
a
F
l
\n
6
z

oo

o
6E
oz
Fvl

64llaEe



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 282

a

of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.

Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another

individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity

to consent and/or substitute-decision making. Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privacy and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's

choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients was amended to include requirements that members should be particularly

sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain

language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in

identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-01-3: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,

using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a

patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any

patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any

safety, public health and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were

amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics. The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional

misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in

advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an accountfor professional services must be itemized upon request.

o Any fees charged for orthotics or any assistive device must be consistently applied in accordance with the member's fee

schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.

o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.

a

a

o Recommendations for amendments include the use of neutral

65lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
L0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

283CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Review and amendments to these docurnents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as

professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.
r CCO updating its COVID-19 euidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government.
r CCO communicates and actively supports implementation of new and amended documents through President's Messages and

communications to stakeholders, includins members, the Regulatorv Excellence Workshop and updates to its Peer and Practice

Assessment 1.0 and 2.0 checklists and programs. Further statistics about these initiatives can be found in the Quantitative section
of this document related to Quality Assurance initiatives.

r As of July !,2022, the Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) has become a mandatory component of CE requirements. to be

completed once every six years. The REW is continuously updated to include the most recent version of standards of practice,
policies and guidelines, as they related to all aspects of professional regulation and patient care, as well as new and amended
documents and how they apply to practice.

o CCO staff is always available to respond to questions from members, stakeholders, and members of the public. lf there is a novel
issue raised, this may be brought to the attention of the appropriate committee for further review.

lf f/rr rrsirrr)sr: is ''partia!ly" or'nr:', ls fhr &rlle'gc pfu:n$inq to inlprovo ii.gpcr,for,ar(ir)ar ov{:rfh? ntxl re pariinq p{tiad}

;ldrJi l;r:irnl 
','r:rnDr 

tr;r.s Jot c!uillicat ion lcptir:r;nl)

66lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 284

The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

please list the College's priority areas of focus for QA assessment and briefly describe how they have been identified OR please insert a link to the website where

this information can be found and indicate the page number.

Is the process taken above for identifying priority areas codified in a policy: Cloosl .jn ilelr'

lf yes, pleose insert link to the policy.

Ihe Q7\ Program is described on CCO's website and consists of many components, including Professional Portfolio, Self Assessment,

Continuing Education, Peer and Practice L.0, Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 and Resulatorv Excellence Workshops and the Core

Competencies Document.

All members are required to participate in the quality assurance program and are required within a two-year Continuing Education (CE)

cycle to complete a self assessment, participate in continuing education and report these activities to CCO through the member portal. The

requirements of the quality assurance program are described in Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. As well, approximately

250 - 500 members are selected for either Peer and Practice Assessment 1.0 or 2.0 each year. These selections are random in nature;

however, there are several factors which may trigger a member being selected for a peer and practice assessment, a requirement to
attend a record keeping workshop or additional educational activities:

r Members re-entering the General (i.e., active) class of registration after a period of at least two years are required to attend a

record keeping workshop and be peer assessed, in addition to re-taking CCO's legislation and ethics examination. This is described

further in Policv P-053: Returnine to the General Class of Certificate of Reeistration.

. Members who are subject to the inquiries, complaints and reports or discipline process are often required to participate in various

components ofthe quality assurance program, such as a record keeping workshop and peer and practice assessment, through

undertakings and discipline decision. These activities are intended to remediate deficiencies found as a result of the complaints or

discipline processes.

a. The College has processes

and policies in place

outlining:

i. how areas of practice that
are evaluated in QA
assessments are identified
in order to ensure the
most impact on the quality

of a registrant's practice;

6TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdrc des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 285

Yes

CCO receives feedback on its quality assurance program through several mechanisms:
. CCO holds an annual peer and practice assessment workshop with all its peer assessors. ln2O27, CCO did not hold this workshop

due to the COVID-19 pandemic; however, it did conduct a virtual workshop on January 29,2022. This workshop provided an
opportunity for peer assessors to offer valuable feedback on both versions of the PPA program. Each peer assessor corducts
approximately 70 - 20 peer assessments per year and, as representatives of CCO who have the opportunity to assess and interact
with members in an educational setting, they provide invaluable feedback on strengths, weaknesses and areas of improvement for
the PPA program and the quality assurance program in general. Peer Assessors can provide feedback to the program through a

number of exercises and all feedback is brought back to the QA Committee for review and consideration of further changes to the
program.

r Each peer and practice assessment includes a feedback form that is completed by the member being assessed. All feedback is

reviewed by the QA Committee for the purposes of improving the program.
r All substantive new or amended by-laws, regulation, standards of practice, policies and guidelines are distributed to members and

stakeholders for feedback, as well as posted publicly on the "News & Updates" section of the CCO website providing an opportu nity
for the public and patients to provide feedback as well. All feedback related to quality assurance initiatives is reviewed by the
Quality Assurance Committee and Councilfor further amendments.

r The Quality Assurance Committee reviewed in detail the "Right Touch" regulation document and will be including it in all
committee information packages. ln late 2021, the Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the principles of the document to be
applied to the review of standards of practice, policies, guidelines and processes. The current Peer and Practice Assessment
program utilizes the "Right Touch" principles as it is clearly an educational and remediation program and not punitive in nature.
Only continued non-compliance has resulted in punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee.

ICO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
/arious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best practices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
)rogram. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this
rpproach into its Quality Assurance program.

rirldifirrr;r,' ccrrriilni,r for c/c.'iflcrlro n (a ptia fi c ! i

63lPage



@m* of Chiropractors of ffiario
des Chiropraticiens de fontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

https://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/publications/right-touch-regulation).

286

69lPage



@):;lrru
of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

287
The College fulfills this requirement: lY"'

Please insert a linkto document(s) outliningdetailsofrighttouch approach and evidence used (e.g., data, literature, expert panel)to inform assessment approach

and indicate page number(s).

OR please briefly describe right touch approach and evidence used.

Please provide the year the right touch approach was implemented Ofr when it was evaluated/updated (if applicable).

Ihe Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the Right Touch regulation document in detail at several meetings in Fall 2021 and reported on
this as part of the Qualitv Assurance report to Council on November 25,2027. As part of its review, the Quality Assurance Committee
applied the following principles:

. Using a risk-based approach, primarily risk to the patient, in reviewing standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as

programs and processes of Quality Assurance.

r Reviewing relevant information in the review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to:
comparable documents from other Ontario health profession and other chiropractic regulators from other jurisdictions,

memoranda from the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, statistics related to complaints and discipline, feedback from
members, stakeholders, patients and organizations, and research and academic articles.

r Amendments to various CCO documents and programs such as the Regulatory Excellence Workshop are reported on elsewhere in

this document.

lfevaluoted/updoted, did the college engoge the following stakeholders in the evoluation:

- Public Yes
' Employers Yes

' Registrants Yes

- otherstokeholders Yes

lt",

CCO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
rrarious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best practices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
Program. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this
approach into its Quality Assurance program.

,4rjrjillonrl ccnrr;r e n !..s fo t r'ln ri ti cation I or;tio n :t I )

ii. details of how the College

uses a right touch,
evidence informed
approach to determine
which registrants will
undergo an assessment
activity (and which type of
multiple assessment
activities); and

70lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 288

Yeslf tlti response is "1:.tortially" or "no", isthe Callege planninq t:o imprtsve ils pert'annLinc€ aver the next reporting perio{l?

CCO updates its peer and practice assessment materials annually to reflect new and amended standards of
practice, policies and guidelines and will continue to review and update these materials to incorporate "Right

Touch" resulation principles.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the document that outlines criteria to inform remediation activities and indicate page

As described above, the Quality Assurance program and specifically Peer and Practice Assessment is primarily an educational and

remediation program, and punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee have only occurred in

situations of non-compliance. lndividual peer and practice assessments may result in additional remediation or member requirements,

such as re-submitting patient health records for review.

number OR list criteria.
iii. criteria that will inform the

remediation activities a

registrant must undergo
based on the OA

assessment, where
necessary.

71 lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropratieiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

289

Yes

Chnose an item.

r'i;/dir ;nlrlr r:;llilrarrts ior. iir./ii"otior,. loplio$ol,

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's process for monitoring whether registrant's complete remediation activities OR please briefly describe the process.

Please insert a link to the College's process for determining whether a registrant has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and judgement following remediation
OR please briefly describe the process.

Both peer and practice assessment (PPA) streams are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to members on a wide
range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Additionally, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members
with an official Disposition Report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific remediation recommendations for the member to
lollow. Further remediation follow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis and CCO staff follows up with these members to ensure
remediation recommendations are incorporated into their practices. This can occur through resubmission of updated record keeping
forms.

A/ri;:icrtrl li;*;lrfl /ris foi' rl{l ifi.dlicr-. liinpfdi:(lj

a. The College tracks the results
of remediation activities a

registrant is directed to
undertake as part of any
College committee and
assesses whether the
registrant subsequently
demonstrates the required
knowledge, skill and
judgement while practicing.

72lP age



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

290

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's website that clearly describes the College's complalnts process incl ud ing, options to resolve a complaint, the potential outcomes

associated with the respective options and supports available to the complainant.

Please insert a link to the polices/procedures for ensuring all relevant information is received during intake OR please briefly describe the policies and procedures

ifthe documents are not publicly accessible.

ICO has several pages on its website describing the complaints process, including how to file a complaint, the information to be included in

r complaint, template letters involved in the complaints process, the various steps of the complaints process and the possible outcomes of
:he complaints process. Any complaint involving allegations of sexual abuse involve communication from CCO staff informing the
:omplainant of their ability to apply for funding for therapy and counselling and direction to the webpage with the appropriate information
and forms. These are included at the following links, under both the "Members of the Public" and "Members of CCO" tab on the website:

. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/

. https://cco.on.ca/members-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/ihe-complaints-process-2/

. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/appointment-and-powers-of-investigators/
a

a

3CO staff will often correspond with potential complainants by phone and/or email to assist them with the complaints process.

a. The different stages of the

complaints process and all

relevant supports available to
complainants are:

i. supported by formal

policies and procedures

to ensure all relevant

information is received

during intake at each

stage, including next

steps for follow up;

ii. clearly communicated

directly to complainants

who are engaged in the

complaints process,

including what a

complainant can expect

at each stage and the

supports available to

them (e.9., funding for

sexual abuse therapy);

and;

LIJ(J
F-U
e
o-
oF
F
J
co

F
f
v'l
6
z
a
oo

F{r{
o
G,

oz
th

73lPag*



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chirograticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

291
Choose an item.f lhr" :espcrrse is "partiolly" at "no", is the College p/dnnin$ fo intprave its perfcrrnance aver tht: t)s,yf frpc/'tine p<r/iodi

ArJ Ll i t ia tw l ca m ts e nts io r c lo riji c ol i c: n (a pt io n a l )

T4lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Onlario
Uordre des chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

292

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

. Please provide details of how the College evaluates whether the information provided to complainants is clear and useful.

\ll committee, including the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, review their policies and procedures on an annual basis, or if
:here is any regulatory amendment or committee or stakeholder feedback that will result in changes, to reflect any updated policies and

trocesses.

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and ony barriers to implementotion.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert rate (see Companion Document: Technical Soecifications for Quantitative CPMF Measures).

Responses to inquiries from the public or members regarding the filing of an inquiry, complaint or report, are provided within one to five

business days. Emails and phone inquiries are directed to the staff member associated with the question or concern. lf staff are away for a

period of time, an auto response is provided by email or phone to contact another staff member who will be able to assist the individual.

College staff will also inform individuals of the timeline associated with a response to their inquiry, complaint or report. This includes the

date of the next lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee meeting, an upcoming investigation or other process within the complaints

committee.

iii. evaluated by the College to
ensure the information
provided to
complainants is clear and
useful.

Benchmorked Evidence

b. The College responds to 90% of

inquiries from the public

within 5 business days, with

follow-up timelines as

neces5ary.

T5lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

293
Choose an item

llthe rcsponse is "portiolly" or "no", is the Colleae plonni\e to impro'r€ its perfarmdnce averthe next rep<srtinq periadl

Add ;tion (t | (omme nt,s fa r t ldtificc t ioil (optiono l)

76 | Page



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

294
Yes

Cho0se an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please list supports available for the public during the complaints process.

Please briefly describe at what points during the complaints process that complainants are made aware of supports available.

Ihe College supports the public in a number of ways:
. Communicating with the member of the public by phone and/or email to aid in understanding the existing standards of practice,

policies and guidelines of the College;
. Communications to members and members of the public involve the complaint process, possible outcomes of a complaint and links

to relevant tools used by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee. lnformation and sample letters are included in the
inquiries, complaints and reports webpaees.

. Assisting the member of the public with information on how to draft a letter of complaint and what accompanying information is to
be included;

r Assisting the member of the public in understanding the various steps of the complaints process, such as communication with the
member, review by the ICRC, investigation including the collection and review of clinical notes and records, timelines of the
complaints process and possible outcomes for complaints;

. CCO has assisted members of the public who are unable to write a letter of complaint. An example of this is CCO taking a recording
of the individual's complaint through a telephone conversation and transcribing this as a letter of complaints.

. CCO has provided members with translated documents upon request.

Ihe College will inform a complainant who is making a complaint for an allegation on sexual abuse on the right of the complainant to apply
lo the College for funding for therapy or counselling. The College will inform the complainant on the process for this application and direct
them to the various forms associated with the complaints process.

Addit/r)noi 4oil)r;)r:r;ts Jr:r clrrificoiion /r;piifl r<;/l

c. Demonstrate how the College
supports the public during
the complaints process to
ensure that the process is

inclusive and transparent
(e.g., translation services are
available, use of technology,
access outside regular
business hours, transparency
in decision-making to make
sure the public understand
how the College makes
decisions that affect them
etc.).

77 lP age



@D
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
|jOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

295

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

ining how complainants can contact the College during the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) Ofl please

provide a brief description.

please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants are supported to participate in the complaints process and indicate the page numberis) OR please

provide a brief description.

Ihe College provides formal letters to the complainant and member within the timelines of the complaints process under the Health

Professions Procedural Code under th e RHPA. CCO will log and track complaints within the internal member database which includes key

Cates that are required for communications consistent with the RHPA requirements. lnformation and sample letters are included in the

inquiries. complaints and reports webpases.

Please insert a link to document(s) outl

tfills ,r^tpoit"rr is "*rtrtiolh," o" "nt>'. is lha Col/roo tlLrnnlig fo ifprovi: ils p{ri /oriro,ic{'dvsr lh{r nexf lspcrtlng p*riltli

a. Provide details about how the
College ensures that all parties

are regularly updated on the
progress of their complaint or
discipline case, including how
complainants can contact the
College for information (e.g.,

availability and accessibility to
relevant information,
translation services etc.).

T8lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

296

Yes

r'.lldrllllal r-r.rrperi-r icr lilrilicr;ti1;r l17f 1if,.il1)lj

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to guidance document and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe the framework and how it is being applied.

Please provide the year when it was implemented OR evaluated/updated (if applicable).

CCO's ICRC prioritizes complaints that have a high level of public risk, such as allegations of sexual abuse, patient harm and
financial/insurance fraud. ln 202O, CCO also prioritized complaints that were related to allegations of failure to comply with COVID-19
protocols and with respect to advertising or posts for claims related to COVID-19 that fall outside of the chiropractic scope of practice
claims.
CCO developed a number of risk assessment tools for reviewing and prioritizing complaints, which are posted publicly on the CCO
webpages related to complaints:

. Risk Assessment Framework Statement

. Risk Assessment Framework

. Risk Assessment Framework Tool

. lnterim Order Assessment Tool

. TransparencvPrinciples

The College has accessible, up-
to-date, documented
guidance setting out the
framework for assessing risk
and acting on complaints,
including the prioritization of
investigations, complaints,
and reports (e.g., risk matrix,
decision matrix/tree, triage
protocol).

I.JJ

U

=U
e.
o_

o
F
F
J
cO

F
l

6
z
a
oo

ot
o2
F

T9lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors ol Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

297
lf the respcnse is "purticlly" ar "na", is the Callrye p:onnit g l.o improve its perfnrmance av?r the rtext ft.partitttx pcriad? Choose an item

Additianal cornme nts for clnrificotin (optiatnl)

80lPage



@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

298

C\lns,: ;r ;1rlr.

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the policy and indicate page number OR please briefly describe the policy.

Please provide an overview ofwhom the College has shared information with overthe pastyearand the purpose ofsharingthat information (i.e., general sectors
ofsystem partner, such as 'hospital', or 'long-term care home').

Historically, CCO has communicated and shared information with other authorities, such as law enforcement, criminal and civil courts, as
authorized by governing legislation, when there are matters or concerns related to professional regulation as well as another governing
authority. These matters may arise in the inquiries, complaints and reports, discipline, fitness to practise and registration processes when
lhere are simultaneous investigations or decisions of other external system partners.

CCO developed a "Transparencv Principles" policy document, available to the public, which outlines this framework of transparency and
Cisclosure to outside parties.

The College's policy outlining
consistent criteria for
disclosure and examples of
the general circumstances
and type of information that
has been shared between the
College and other relevant
system partners, within the
legal framework, about
concerns with individuals and
any results.

LU
U
FU
E.

o
F
F
J
co

F
l
v)
6
z
a
oo

(t
rl
o
0c

oz
t-th

8'l lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontarao
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

299

Choose an item.

Yes

/f ilr1 resiror-se 15 "porilnl!';t" cr "rio", ls tic ftrl/lge s/0r,.,,,.ino io ilrrrcyii ii:s p.:rfcrnrcrice oyfl tlic noxl rcfO{i}t perl0di

The College fulfills this requirement:

Kpls tells, and how it relates to the college meeting its strategic objectives and is therefore relevant to track), a link to council meeting materials where this

information is included and indicate page number OR list KPls and rationale for selection'

addition to its mission. vision. values and stratesic obiectives and @.![mitte,g lbicl:tivg!, CCO approved the Kev Performance lndicators

for core CCO functions. Kpls are regularly included in Council and committee packages, and are intended to identify the core

of certain statutory committees and the annual review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines.

for why these KPls have been selected (including what the results the respective
Please insert a link to a document that list College's KPls with an explanation

Outline the College's KPls,

including a clear rationale for
why each is important.

a.

Fz
t!

LIJ

o
E.
o-

=oZ
(t
z
Fto
o-
trJ
E
F--z
LU

LU
E
l
tn
LIJ

l-
z
a
a)
o

\t
ot
oz
F(t,

82lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

300

Partially

Yes

..Xdolirr;nol r:ornrn enis far c!arificaticn (il necd*d)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the College reported to Council on its progress against stated strategic objectives, regulatory outcomes

and risks that may impact the College's ability to meet its objectives and the corresponding meeting minutes and indicate the page number.

Public Council packases include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes

recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports

appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from
uarious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

i/llre re-cpO;r.se is "pattidlly" at "t1o", ls thi: Coliege plunninr,"t l() !nprov,: its ntrt'tJrn:cnct cvr:r lhe r;erl repcriii;r: pcrildl

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on
formalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

Addilianol camments f{}t ciorificolion lil needed)

b. The College regularly reports to
Council on its performance and

risk review against:

i. stated strategic objectives

(i.e., the objectives set out
in a College's strategic

plan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e.,

operational

indicators/targets with

reference to the goals we

are expected to achieve

under the RHPA); and

iii. its risk management

approach.

33lPage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

301

Partially

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the Council used performance and risk review findings to identify where the College needs to implement

improvement activities and indicate the page number.

Public Council packages include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes

recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports

appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from

irarious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

tfthe responsc is "partiolty" or "no", describe the College's plon tolully implementthis meosure. Outline the steps
,eviewing/revising existing poticies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and any borriers to implementation.

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on

iormalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

(i.e., drofting policies, consulting stdkeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the College's dashboard or relevant section of the College's website.

All decisions addressing these issues are included in public Council package and communicated to members, stakeholders and system

partners and posted on the CCO website under the "New & Updates" section.

a. Council uses performance and

risk review findings to identify
where improvement activities
are needed.

Eenchmarked Evidence

Performance results related to a

College's strateBic objectives

and regulatory outcomes are
made public on the College's
website.

84lPrgn



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

302
Choose an itemlf t/rer{spcf5ei.!"lsurticllv'ar"ni",islhe{:clIeqepicnn!ngtc,itny:ro'teilsperfcrn:ct:ct {]v€rl|{fsxlrcpattingp(riodI

Adtliiional u)mnients fcr clarifict;tion (if nrcrJ*tl)

85lPage



@D
College ol Chiropraclors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

303
Part 2: Context Measures

recommended manner (e.g., due to differences in definitions), a College can report the information in a manner that is conducive to its data infrastructure and availability.

future.

order to understand how the information provided was calculated.

The ministry has also included hyperlinks of the definitions to a glossary of terms for easier navigation.

86lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

Table 1- Context Measure 1

Regulatory Excellence Workshops

for many years, has mandated that all members attend a mandatory, in-person
nd interactive record-keeping workshop within the first year of registering with CCO.

is workshop is led by CCO staff, including one member of the profession, the Director
Professional Practice. This workshop is also available to all CCO members to refresh

nd review updates to standards, polices and guidelines and their implementation
It also provides an opportunity, for the College to communicate to members,

messages about expectations related to advertising, social media, and prevention of
I abuse. These workshops are also used as a remediation tool for QA, ICRC and

iscipline Committee decisions and undertakings.

2022, CCO changed the name of this workshop to the Regulatory Excellence
hop (REW), since it includes so much more material related to chiropractic care of

ients and professional regulation. CCO continued to provide these workshops, (three
total) for members to attend virtually. The interactive workshops continue to be a

good opportunity for the college to set member expectations, to talk about

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

304

3 Workshops
351 Members

I*I

I

What does this informotion tell us? Quolity ossuronce (QA) and Quolity
lmprovement (Ql) ore critical components in ensuring thot professionols provide
core that is sdfe, effective, potient-centred ond ethicol. ln oddition, heolth core
professionols face a number of ongoing chonges thot might impoct how they
practice (e.9., chonging roles ond responsibilities, chonging public expectotions,
legislative changes).

The information provided here illustrates the diversity of QA octivities the College
undertook in assessing the competency of its registronts ond the QA ond Ql
octivities its registronts undertook to mointain competency in CY 2022. The diversity
of aA/al 6ctivities and ossessments is reflective of o College's risk-bosed opprooch
in executing its QA program, whereby the frequency of ossessment ond octivities to
mointoin competency ore informed by the risk of o registront not octing
competenily. Details of how the College determined the opproprioteness of its
ossessment component of its QA progrom are described or referenced by the
College in Measure 10.2(o) of Standord L0.

#

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Clcns* ;rl ir*rr
lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 1. Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY 2022x

Type of QA/QI activity or assessrnent:

DON/lAlN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

87lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

trends, to quantify and qualify and address potential risks as members enter
practice life, all in keeping with the principles of "right touch regulation"

e workshop features a STEP-BY-STEP approach that includes:

. an introduction to CCO

r accurately documenting the "story" of the doctor/patient relationship

(consultation, history, examination, diagnostic imaging, report of findings,

communicating a diagnosis, treatment, SOAP notes, re-assessment, dismissal)

o informed consent - when and how
r communication with patients, avoiding boundary crossings and prevention of

sexual abuse
. chiropractic scope of practice

. billing and business practices

r adjunctive therapies and assistive devices

o assignment and referral of care
r advertising, websites and social media
. privacy of personal health information
. changes to and dissolution of practice

r COVID-19 protocols and updates
. new and amended CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

. current events

is the link to CCO's posted announcements for the upcoming REW

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

305

SSlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 306
is the total number of attendees for each workshop help in 2022:

24-Feb-22
8-Jun-22

28-Oct-22

33

772

r46

l: 351

2. Peer and Practice Assessment

surrounding the Peer and Practice Assessment Program can be found on CCO's

r Peer and Practice fusessment 1.0
e Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0

Quality Assurance (QA) Committee developed the Peer and Practice Assessment

) Program to enhance members' learning opportunities and ensure their
pliance with the regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines.

n becoming registered with CCO, members have the right to call themselves
and to practice chiropractic within the scope of practice identified in

Chiroproctic Act, 7997.1n assuming the right to practice, members also assume the
associated with this right, including the responsibility to maintain

petence.

e public must feel confident that chiropractors within Ontario, who demonstrated
evel competencies when they registered with CCO, continue to demonstrate

petence for the duration of their practice. As such, there is an expectation that
embers engage in life-long learning, continually building their competencies

their career

557 Members

Actual Number
ofAttendees

Present
Workshop

Date

89lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

During the assessment, peer assessors can flag any deficiencies noted with the

Tembers'.record keeping and/or knowledge of the College's standards of practice,

oolicies, and guidelines. This process also allows the member to engage in conversations

nrith their peer assessor regarding any noted deficiencies so that they may address them

mmediately.

lCO has developed two phases (thus far) to the PPA Program tb acknowledge and

rddress the changes in member competencies that are gained with clinical experience.

PPA 7.0 is intended for use with entry-to-practice new registrants/practitioners. PPA 2.0

has been developed for assessing more experienced practitioners and typically, is only

used after a member has undergone PPA 1.0 and addressed any issues revealed in that
process. These two streams of assessments also provide opportunities to interact, one-

)n-one, with members at different stages of their professional lives.

Building on successful elements of PPA 1.0, the PPA 2.0 assessment process involves:
. A more in-depth, conversational review of a selection of patient files to

better ensure that members are maintaining an accurate patient health

record, reflective of the patient encounter and "story".
. A review and conversation related to scenarios commonly encountered in

clinical practice that show implementation of regulations, standards of
practice, policies, and guidelines in real life situations.

. A more complete review of the member's professional portfolio to ensure

that all components, especially areas needing improvement identified in the

member's Self-Assessment Plan of Action, are being addressed by the
member.

loth PPA Lr".t, are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to
nembers on a wide range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Members are
'andomly selected to participate in the program. Once assessments have been

:ompleted, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members

,vith an official disposition report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

307

90lFage



@D
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

'emedial recommendations for the member to address. lf required, further remedial

'ollow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis. A system has been implemented to
nembers who require additional submissions due to deficiencies noted during their
PPA. This is to help reduce the potential risk of members receiving complaints and

naintain the interest of the public.

[he number of selected members for both PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.O for 2022 are as follows

PPAL.O2022,
members selected
Totals
PPA1.0 26?

PPA2.O2022,
members selected
Totals
PPA2.0 294

rarticipation is Mandatory

Members who hold a General (i.e., General Active, General Non-Practising and General
tlon-Resident) Certificate of Registration are required to participate in this program.

f a member is registered as General Non- Practising and General Non-Resident, they
ivill undergo a modified assessment. For example, if the member does not actively see

)atients (General Non- Practising), the assessment would entail a review of their
<nowledge of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines.

lhe QA Committee has taken steps to ensure that ALL members registered, regardless
rf whether they work in direct patient care or not, take steps to maintain the skills and

<nowledge that is core to providing direct patient care.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 308

91 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

nformation gathered during the peer assessment is shared with the members of the

lity Assurance Committee only

ber Selection

randomly selects members to participate in the program and matches the selected

with a suitable peer assessor: a colleague trained to identify areas of
provement and encourage members to strive for continuous quality improvement

conduct the assessment, designed to be educational, not punitive.

should also be noted that, in keeping with "right touch regulation" principles, the PPA

m has been increasingly utilized by both CCO's Registration Committee (e.g.

members undergo a proactive PPA when returning to practice after an absence)

nd ICRC (e.g. creating the Peer Mentoring Program, based on PPA 2.0, that helps guide

embers' understanding and implementation of better practices after behaviour has

identified as non-compliant in some manner).

Assessors, Training and Support

continues to maintain a core group of highly trained peer assessors since the

nception ofthe program. These assessors play a key and vital role in the success of both

development and implementation of the program. Successful peer assessors must

the conditions and elements outlined in our Peer Assessor Policy, CCO Policv P-

n2022, GCO had a roster of 29 trained and experienced peer assessors working in the
providing valuable guidance to members, in-person and remotely.

year, since the start of the PPA program, the QA Committee has hosted all peer

rs for an in-person day-long training workshop. This workshop typically involves

following elements:

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31., 2023

309

92lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

Review of updates to regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines

related to the practice of chiropractic;
Review of changes to the PPA programs to accommodate the above updates;

Gathering front-line feedback from assessors on their experiences of the past

year's PPA cycle;

Group and/or individual performance feedback to peer assessors;

Small group break-out sessions that often task assessors with brainstorming,
creating and developing ideas for new elements, changes or refinements of
future PPA or other QA initiatives;
Guest speakers with experience in quality assurance, continuing competencies
or other areas relevant to this initiative;
Updates on current events such as professional or government trends and/or
initiatives;
Plenty of opportunity for assessors from all over the province to interact with
their colleagues.

January 29,2022, the Annual Peer Assessor Workshop was held virtually, to
for restrictions regarding COVID-19. This year's workshop, which is

a full day in-person workshop, was condensed into a four-hour virtual
rience. Although a guest speaker was not present for this workshop, all other

ements were effectively covered within the tight schedule.

(page797 ofthe February 25,2022 public Council package) from the
was obtained from all attendees. Once again, feedback was quite positive,

nd assessors provided various suggestions for future workshops

assessors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if
have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a

situation/question during an assessment.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 310

a

a

a

a

93lPage



@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

lPeer asserrors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if 
I

hhey have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a 
I

llft*::::::::::s.f,hePPAPr.sram ncudng,he 
I

lrequirement for additional peer assessors. Considerations when appointing a peer assessor 
I

lmay 
include: 

I

| .interview evaluation 
I

I .n""d for peer assessor(s) in each CCO district 
I

I rgeographical location of the member's practice 
I

| .tyne of practice and/or practice style 
II rexpertence 

,__ _-__:-rr_. I

| .additional professional qualifications, expertise and/or specialty 
I

| .languages spoken I

| ..ottrnication skills 
I

I .successful completion of both the internal and field training portions of the 
I

I Atr"rtor-ln-Training (AlT) Program 
I

I r additional qualifications and characteristics to complement the attributes of the 
I

I p"", and Practice Assessment program. 
I

I

hs per Policv P-051: Peer Assessors, members who are successfully appointed as peer 
I

|,,*,,o-o,".".t1,,."-y.arterm,withtheeligibilitytocompleteuptothreeteimsi
lconsecutively. The assessors are ineligible for re-appointment until a full three-year 

I

ferm 

hasbeen completed. 
I

lln ZOZZ,the QA Committee and supporting staff determined the need to appoint new 
I

lpeer assessors due to five assessors having reached their maximum nine-year 
I

lappointment, and one assessor who needed to resign due to medical reasons. 
I

lMor.ou"r, it was noted that there were areas within the province that could benefit 
I

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 311

94lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chi.opraticiens de l'Ontdrio

from having an assigned assessor for that region

A call for new peer assessors was released in the President's Message dated June 29,

2O22,with a deadline for applications set for luly 22,2022. After reviewing the
numerous applications, interviews were held and a total of nine new peer assessors
were appointed, one of whom was a former peer assessor.

ln-field training began with each new assessor (AlT) being required to observe a current
peer assessor as they conducted both a PPA 1.0 and a PPA 2.0. For any AIT who had yet
to complete PPA 2.0, they were required to undergo this assessment which would then
count toward their observations.

Training for the new assessors continued into 2023 with an Orientation Day, as well as

being reguired to attend the Peer Assessor Workshop the following day. Finally, in-field
training willtake place once again where AlTs will, this time, be observed by a current
peer assessor as they conduct two assessments (PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0). This particular
portion of the training will allow the new assessor to hone their assessment skills with
the aid and experience of their colleague.

3. Professional Portfolio and Continuing Education

CCO requires that members maintain a Professional Portfolio log where they track
compliance with all CCO continuing competency initiatives. The professional portfolio
would include, among other things:

. Self-Assessment Plan of Action Summarv Sheet

. Alog of all completed continuing education activities

. materials collected while fulfilling their continuing education (CE) requirements
(e.g., course outlines brochures from conventions/conferences, etc.)

. current samples of advertising.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31., 2023 312

Approximately
4892 Members

95lPage



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

professional portfolio information is available at the following links:

r https://cco.on.calmem bers-of-cco/qualitv-assu ra nce/professional-portfolio/
r https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2017l10/PP handbook Jan2017'pdf

embers were encouraged to log and track all their continuing education activities

a confidential on-line member portal. This was developed to provide CCO the

lity to track member activities as well as link registration actions to a member's

n of other mandatory activities.

2020, the QA Committee completed a lengthy process of developing, prototyping,

and gathering feedback to further make improvements on the

lopment of a second generation self-assessment.

noted above, in the report on Peer ond Practice Assessment, we acknowledge the

ce which supports that members should be demonstrating ongoing and evolving

petencies throughout their careers. This would be demonstrited in the types of CE

es undertaken. lt was the Committee's view that it would also be prudent to have

self-assessment suitable to reflect on basic, entry-to-practice competencies and then

have further self-assessments that engaged the member in self-reflection on

petencies more relevant to advancing experience and expertise.

e new version of the Self-Assessment, now referred to as $].,Q] was launched at

start of the new CE cycle, July 1,2022. lt is important to note that, where elements

SA 1.0 focus on entry-to-practice competencies such as knowledge of regulations,

ndards of practice, policies and guidelines, SA 2.0 was framed around the revised

2.0 is designed to assist more experienced members of the profession to reflect on

competencies after several years of practice experience. For example, members

on various scenarios they may have encountered or may encounter in practice.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 313

96lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Ljordre des Chiropraficiens de I'Ontario

scenarios are based on archival case examples and trends. The Core

mpetencies for CCO Members also clearly lays out basic expectations members

be aware of when providing care to the public in the section titled: "What to
when attending a chiropractor appointment: an application of the core

cies."

2022,the QA Committee revised the latest draft of SA 2.0 to better reflect the needs

nd expectations of the experienced chiropractor, and common issues that might arise

to each core competency. Members were notified of the new Self-Assessment

ire via the President's Messaee dated June 29. 2022 and its official launch at

beginning of Cycle 7 (tuly 7,2022 - June 30, 2024).

Education Requirements

in all previous CE cycles, CCO has developed a mandatory CE prosram that is built on

best available evidence, with respect to professional continuing competency. As

our program is a balance of 'trust" and "proof" models, i.e., providing members a

of options for meeting their requirements that embrace the diversity of practices

populations served by those practices.

nally, CCO has always allowed members to engage in ongoing, continuing
cy development that is relevant to their areas of interest and expertise. This

been true even for those members who may not be engaged in direct patient care,

rather serving in administrative, research or academic roles. However, CCO still

uires that all members comply with the 5-hours of structured activities related to the
controlled acts (e.g., diagnosis and treatment of patients) in the event that they

oose to engage in direct patient care at any point in time.

mentioned in the section Regulatory Excellence Workshop, it is now mandatory for
to attend one REW every three CE cycles, or rather, once every six years. This

re is meant to be proactive and educational in nature, to ensure all members are

up to date with all standards of practice, policies, and guidelines, including their

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 314

9TlPage



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

keeping skills.

4. Peer Mentoring Program

mentioned above, PPAS were often used as a means of remediation from both ICRC

the Discipline Committee. The results of a complaint lrom 2OI9 prompted ICRC to
nd the member undergo a series of peer assessments (up to four peer

within a l2-month period. This one-year remedial process was to garner

confidence in the member's competency to practice, ensure their adherence
CCO's standards of practice, policies, and guideline, and provide the member with
ple opportunity to amend any deficiencies noted throughout the process.

to the positive findings of this specified continued educational remedial program

P), this remained as a SCERP option for ICRC, as well as a course of action for
with disciplinary findings. To distinguish this new format of remediation from

PPA Program, this process was termed the "Peer Mentoring Program", and
nues to be used by both ICRC and the Discipline Committee.

formal training session for the Peer Mentoring Program took place on November 9,

as a joint endeavor between the Discipline, lCR, and QA Committees. A guest

who practices in regulatory law, attended the workshop, along with 13 peer

ntors: a group of individuals who are currentformer peer assessors who bring with
hem a wealth of knowledge from their role as a PA, and potential expertise within a

rticular field of chiropractic (e.g., the peer mentor is a Fellow of the College of
c Orthopedic Specialists). During the training session, mentors learned

bout the purpose and development of the program, the role of the mentor, and in-
details pertaining to the PM process. lt was stressed to the mentors that

Ithough the PM process is similar to PPA 2.0, the premise of peer mentoring is

the educational nature ofthe peer assessment, but rather PM is in fact
Therefore, mentors should gear the PM session toward the findings

by the ICR or Discipline Committee.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 315

7 Members

98lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

was obtained from all 13 peer mentors, all of whom rated the training
ion 5 out of 5.

2022, a total of seven members began the Peer Mentoring Program. Members are
with the process and all participating mentors have commented on the

attitude and feedback from the members.

<lnsert QA octivity or assessmen>

<lnsert QA activity or assessmen>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert OA activity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA activity or ossessment>

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 316

:

vii.

viii.

ix.

X.

99lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 317

moy evolve to capture the different permutotions of pothwoys registrdnts

requested stotisticol inJormotion recognizes the current limitotians in dota

distribution of OA/QI activities or ossessments used in the reporFng period

the
ond

CPMF

type

the

to

of
Program,OA

limited

iterotions
College's

future

therefore
of
is

While

ond
pdrto5

todoy

period.

undergo
reporting

moy
ovoilability

theofcDursetheoveroctivitiesAAmultipleundergoingbemoyRegistronts

Additiono I com m e nts Jo r cla rifi cotion ( if needed )

100 | Page



KD
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 2 - Context Measures 2 and 3

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3t,2023

318

.:*

Whot does this informotion tell us? lf o registront's knowledge, skills,

and judgement to practicz sofely, effectively, ond ethically have been

assessed or reossessed and found to be unsotisfactory or o registront
is non-complidnt with a College's QA Progrom, the College may refer
them to the College's QA Committee.

The information provideC here shows how mony registronts who
underwent on octivity or 7ssessment os port of the QA progrom where
the QA Committee deemed thot their proctice is unsotisfoctory ond os

o result have been directed to porticipote in specified continuing
education or remedioticn progrom as of the stort of CY 2022,
understonding thot some coses moy corry over.

%

Regulatory
Excellence

Workshop:7.2%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 1.0:

sA%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:

6.0%

Self Assessment,

Professiona I

Portfolio and

Continuing

#

Regulatory
Excellence

Workshop: 35L
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment L.O:263
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:294
members

Self Assessment,

Professional
Portfolio and

Continuine

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recom mended method or the College own method: Ch oc:e a r: ric::r

lf o College method is used, please specify the rationole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 2. Total number of reglstrants who participated in the OA Program CY 2022

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

101 | P age



KD
College of Chiropmctors of Ontario
ljordrc des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

319
Education: tOO%of
members registered
in the General class

of registration

o.1,4%

NR

Additionol comments for clarificotion (if needed)

Education:

Approximately:
Approximately 4892
Members (Members

registered in the
General class of

registration)

7

CM 3. Rate of registrants who were referred to the QA Comrrittee as part of the QA

Program where the QA Committee directed the registrant to undertake remediation in

cY 2022.

102 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lJordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 3 - Context Measure 4

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

320

:l*

Whot does this informotion tell us? This information provides insight into the

autcome of the College's remedial octivities directed by the QA Committee ond moy
help o College evoluote the effectiveness of its "QA remediotion activities". Without
odditionol context no conclusions can be drown on how successful the QA

remediotion octivities ore, os mony factors moy influence the practice ond

behoviour registronts (continue to) disploy.

%

42.86%

57.14%

#

3

4

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: ahoose a n ite iil

lf a College method is used, please specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure {CMl

CM 4. Outcome of remedial activities as at the end of CY 2022:*+

l. Registrants who demonstrated required knowledge, skills, and judgement following remediation*

ll. Registrants still undertaking remediation (i.e., remediation in progress)

NR
* This number may include registronts who were directed to undertake remediotion in the previous yeor ond completed reassessment in CY 2022.
**This meosure moy include any outcomes from the previous yeor thot were corried over into CY 2022.

Addif.i.)nal cammenls fot cldrification (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

103 | P ags



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 4 - Context Measure 5

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

321

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion

focilitates tronsparency to the public, registronts ond the
ministry regording the most prevolent themes identified in

formol comploints received ond Registror's lnvestigotions
undertcken by o College.

7

29

0

14

27

0

1,4

t4
0

0

0

LOO%

Registrar lnvestigations
initiated

#

t4

L

4

0

2

3

0

2

2

0

0

0

%

Formal Complaints
recei'red

#

2

27

28

25

5

15

15

4

5

0

2

21,

22

20

4

72

t2
3

5

0

00

727 too%

;tatistical dataiscollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: i:ilos;a:l11 iicsl
lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its tse:

Cont€xt Measure (CMl

CM 5, Distribution of forma I complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations by theme in CY 2022

Themes

t.

il.

ilt.

lv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

X.

xl.

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient care

lntent to Mislead including Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

Unauthorized Practice

Qther <please specify>

Total number of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations**

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

104 | F a9e



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l0ntario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

322

Additional comments for cldrificdtion (if needed)

Formal Complaints

30

25

20

L5

10

5

0

l.Advertising il.BillingandFees Ill.Communication lV.Competence,i V. lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.sexual Abuse
palient Care including Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

Formal Complaints
A/R

Resistra/s lnvestigation

**The requested stotisticol informotion (number ond distrihution by theme) recognizes thot formdl comploints dnd Registror's tnvestigotions moy
include ollegotions thdt Ioll under multiple themes identified above, therefore when odded together the numberc set out per theme moy not equol
the total number of formal complaints or Reoistra/s lnvestioations.

105lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March37,2023 323

Registrar lnitiated

4.5

4

3.5

2.5

2

1

0.5

0
t.Advertising ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV Competence/ V.lntenltoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse lX.Harassment/

Patient Care including Fraud ConJuct & Boundary

Behaviour Violations

X. Unauthori?ed
Practice

Xl. other <please

specify>

106 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors ot Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 5 - Context Measures 5, 7, 8 and 9

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

324

,;l*

Whot does this informotion tell us? The information helps the
public better understand how formol comploints filed with the
College ond Registrar's lnvestigotions ore disposed of or
resolved. Furthermore, it provides tronsporency on key sources
of concern thot ore being brought forword to the College's
lnquiries, Comploints ond Reports Committee.

/o

0

0

82

L7

0

0

99

1,1

8

#

0

0

82

77

0

0

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: Ch cc$e a r ite:-r.

lf o College method is used, please specify the rutionole for its use:

Context Measure (Cn )

CM 6, Total number offormal complaints that were brought forward to the ICRC in 3Y 2022

CM 7. Total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a result of a Registrar's lnvestigation in CY 2022

CM8, Total number of requests or notifications for appointment ofan investiga:orthrough a Registrar's
lnvestigation brought forward to the ICRC that were approved in CY 2022

CM 9, Ofthe formal complaints and Registrar/s lnvestigations received in CY 2022**:

l. Formal complaints that proceeded to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll. Formal complaints that were resolved through ADR

lll. Formal complaints that were disposed of by ICRC

lV. Formal complaints that proceeded to ICRC and are still pending

V. Formal complaints withdrawn by Registrar at the request of a complainant

Vl. Formal complaints that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

107 | F age



@D
College of €hiropractors of Oniario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

325

ADR

Disposal

Formal Comolaints
Formal Complaints withdrawn bv Resistrar at the request of a corplainant
NR

Registrar's lnvestiqation

# May relote to Registro/s lnvestigotions thot were broughtto tllr lCRc in the previous year'

disposes of as frivolous ond vexqtious ond o referrdl to the Discipine Committee will also be counted in totdl number of comploints disposed oJ by the ICRC.

Additional comments for cl0rificotion (if needed)

Outcomes of Formal Complaints

90

80

70

60

5r0

4A

30

2A

10

0
l. Formal complaints that
p.oceeded to Alternative
Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll. Formal complaints that
were resolved through AOR

lll. Formal complaints that
were disposed of by ICRC

IV. Formal complailts that V. Formal complaints Vl. Formal complajnts that are Vll. Formal complaints and

proceeded to laRC and are still withdrawn by Regislrar at the disposed of by tre ICBC as Regislrar's lnvestigations that
perding request of a complainant frivolous and vexatious are d;sposed of by the ICRC as

a referral t0 the Discipline
C0mmittee

00vil Formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations that are disposed of by the ICRC as

a referral to the Discipline Committee

108 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UO.dre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 5 - Context Measure 10 326

t.

il.

ilt.

tv.

V.

vt.

vil.

vilt.
tx.

rtising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead lncluding Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record Keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

0

2

t3
I4
2

L0

4

1

1.

t
2

'1,

0

0

0

7

0

7

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

0

0

1,

0

9

1

1

7

7

0
'1.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

I*

Takes any other action it
considers appropriate that is

not inconsistent with its

governing legislation,
regulations, or by-laws.

Refers specified

allegations to the

Discipline

Committee

toAgrees
undertaking

Orders a specified

continuing education or

remediation program

lssues a

caution (oral

or written)

Proves advice or

recommendations

# of ICRC Decisions++

Take no
a ction

Context Measur€ (CM)

CM 10. Total number of ICRC decisions in 2022

Distribution of ICRC decisions bv theme in 2022+

Nature of Decision

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recom mended method or the College's own method: {h ccsf i n ilrrl.

lf a College method is used, please specify the rdtionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

'109lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

X. UnauthorizedPractice

Xl. Other <p/eose specify>

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

327
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

above, therefore when added together the numbers set out per theme may not equol the totol number of formal complaints or registro/s investigotions, or decisions.

NR

or Registror investigotion ond could focilitote a diologue with the public obout the approprioteness of on outcome reloted to o porticulor formol comploint.

Additional comments for clorification (if needed)

110lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Oniario
Lordre des chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 328

Distribution of ICRC Decisions by Theme

3,6

t4

12

10

8

6

4

2

0 II
l. Advertising

II l. il,1 I lll
lX. Harassment /

Boundary
Violations

ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV.Competence/ V.lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.RecordKeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse
Patient Care lncluding Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specifii>

t Take no action

I proves advice or recommendations

I lssues a caution {oral or written)

t Orders a specified continuing education or remediation program

I Agrees t0 undertaking

I Refers specified allegations to the Discipline Committee

I Takes any other action it considers appropriate that js not inconsistent with its governing legislation, regulations, or by-laws.

111 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

Table 7 - Context Measure 11

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

329

What does this int'ormotion tell us? This informotion illustrotes the maximum length of time in which 9 out of 10 formtl
comploints or Registror's investigotions ore being disposed by the College.

The informotion enhances tronsporency obout the timeliness with which o College disposes of formol comploints or
Registror's investigotions. As such, the information provides the public, ministry, ond other stokeholders with infornotion
regording the cpproximdte timelines they con expect for the disposol of o formol comploint filed with, or Registror's

investigotion undertoken by, the College.

Days

139

199

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended rrethod or the College own method: {it $r se ; n itc'l

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rutionole for its use:

Context Measure (cM)

CM 11. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. A formal complaint in working days in CY 2022

ll. A Registrar's investigation in working days in CY 2022

Disposal

Additionai cornmcnts jor clorifica!:ian {if neede ri)

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

112lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 8 - Context Measure 12

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

s30

Whot does this informot:on tell us? This informotion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9

out of 10 uncontested discipline heorings ond 9 out of 10 contested discipline heorings ore being

disposed.

The informotion enhorces tronsparency obout the timeliness with which o discipline hearing

undertokenbyoCollegeisconcluded. Assuch,theinformotionprovidesthepublic,ministry,ondother
stokeholders with information regording the approximote tlmelines they con expect for the resolution

of o discipline proceedinq undertoken bv the Colleqe.

23r

N/A

Days

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Recommended

lf a College method is used, pledse specify the rotionale for its use:

context Measure (qu)

CM 12. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. An uncontested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

ll. A contested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

Disposal

Uncontested Discipline Hearine
Contested Discipline Hearine

Additional coffvtletts Jor clarificcttion (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

113lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chrropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 9 - Context Measure 13

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

331

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion facilitotes tronsporency to the public, regis:ronts

and the ministry regording the most prevolent discipline findings where o formol complalnt or
Registrar's lnvestigatton is reJerred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.

#

3

0

6

0

0

4

0

0

0

0

4

4

0

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended nrethod orthe College's own method: R eco m m e n d ed

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rationale for its use:

Discipline decisions may have more than one finding by type. There were a total of 7 discipline decisions in2022.

Context Measure (CM)

CM 13. Distribution of Discipline finding by type*

Type

I. Sexual abuse

ll. lncompetence

lll. Fail to maintain Standard

lV. lmproper use of a controlled act

V. Conduct unbecoming

Vl. Dishonourable,disgraceful, unprofessional

Vll. Offenceconviction

Vlll. Contravenecertificaterestrictions

lX. Findingsinanotherjurisdiction

X. Breach of orders and/or undertaking

Xl. Falsifying records

Xll. False or misleading document

Xlll. Contravene relevant Acts

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

114lPage



@D r;'m
of Chiropraetors of Ontario
des Chiroprsticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

332
* The requested stotisticdl information recognizes that on individudl discipline cose moy include multiple findings identified above,
number of dixipline coses.

therefore when odded together the number oJfindings may not equol the total

NR

Additionol comments for clarificotion (if needed)

Disribution of Discipline Decisions by Type
7

6

5

4

3

2

l. Sexual abuse il-

lncompetence
lll. Fail to
maintain
Standard

lV. lmproper use V. Conduct
of a controlled unbecoming

act

vt^

Dishonourable,
disgraceful,

unprofessional

Vll. Offence Vlll. Contravene lX. Findings in
conviction certificate another

restrictions jurisdiction

X. Breach of Xl. Falsifying
orders and/or records
undertaking

Xll. False or
misleading
document

Xlll. Contravene
relevant Acts

115lPage



@) le*; ;::iffi r,:ffi: ?!i?Jt .,,, CCO :PMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

333
Table 10 - Context Measure 14

V/hot does this informotion tetl us? This informatnn witl help strengthen tronspdrency on the \tpe of
actions taken to protect the public through decisions rendered by the Discipline Committee. lt is imWrtant

to note thot no conclusions can be drown on the dppropridteness of the discipline decisions without

knowing intimote detoils of eoch case including the rotionole behind the decision'

needed)Additio no I co m me nts ;for clurlfication ( il

A discipline decision may have multiple orders

lzl. Revocation

5ll. Suspension

of Registration lslll. Terms, conditions and Limitations on a Certificate

7lV. Reprimand

5V. Undertaking

not equol the total number of discipline cases.

Revocation
Suspension

Terms, Conditions and Limitations

Reprimand

Undertaking

above, therefore when odded together the numbers set out for findings and orders may
discipline case moy include multiple findings identified* The requested stotisticol information recognizes thot on individual

College orvn method: Cl-:ccse *ti jiel"r
Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the

lf a Cottege method is used, please specify the rotionale for its use:

Context Measure (CIM)

CM 14. Distribution of Discipline orders by type*

Type l*

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

116 | F age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de fontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023 334

Distribution of Discipline Decisions by Type
8

7

6

4

2

0

l. Revocation ll. Suspension lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on s
Certificate of Registration

lV. Reprimand V- Undertakine

117lPage
































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	AGENDA
	1.1 Discipline Committee Report
	1.1.1 HPRO Training (Discipline) –May 26, June 9, 2023
	1.2 Fitness to Practise Committee Report
	1.3 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee (ICRC)Report
	1.3.1 Shannel Pearson and Chris Triantafilou (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.3.2 Channel Pearson and Guy Pelletier (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.4 Patient Relations Committee Repor
	1.5 Advertising Committee Report
	4.1 Executive Committee Report
	4.1.17 Endorsement of Justice O’Brienre: hearing on February 17, 2023
	4.1.18 Order dated February 17, 2023
	4.1.19 Grey Areas dated April 2023“The Legal Value of a Sound Policy-Making Process”
	4.1.20 CPMF Report (filed March 31,2023)
	4.1.21 Key Performance Indicators dated November 21, 2021
	4.1.22 DEI Plan (approved April 20, 2022)
	4.1.23 HPRO Information re: DEI tools and resources
	4.1.24 Circulation of ProposedAmendments to Registration Regulation: Creation of Emergency Class of Registration– February 28, 2023
	4.1.25 Posting of CCO Draft Regulationon Regulatory Registry
	4.1.26 Regulatory Registry – Current Proposals
	4.1.27 News Release dated January 19,2023 entitled “New “As of Right” Rules a First in Canada to Attract More Health Care Workers to Ontario”
	4.1.28 News Release dated February 21, 2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing Wait Times for Publicly FundedSurgeries and Diagnostics”
	4.1.30 Correspondence dated February 9, 2023 to Ms Henry, Director, Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch, MOH from Elinor Larney, Chair, HPRO
	4.1.31 Extract from Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023
	4.1.32 Communication dated February 22, 2023 re: Your Health: A Planfor Connected and Convenient Care
	4.1.33 Media dated March 9, 2023entitled “Ontario considers expanding scope of practice for nurses, pharmacists, and more”
	4.1.34 Media dated March 13, 2023“Gelinas worried unregistered health workers might abuse system”
	4.1.35 Media dated April 5, 2023 entitled “Ontario to expand list of tests midwives can order; midwives say it’s a first step”
	4.1.38 Article from October 21, 2022 meeting entitled “Cyber resilience:12 key controls to strengthen your security”
	4.1.39 Various Cyber Security Training Sessions
	4.1.40 Communication exchange with CBC Reporter
	4.1.41 CBC article dated March 11, 2023 entitled “Backlogged tribunals creating distress for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard”
	4.1.42 President’s Message – March 28, 2023
	4.1.43 Health and Safety Protocols forHybrid (In-Person/Virtual) Council and Committee Meetings (draft)
	4.1.44 COVID-19 Protocols for Hybrid(In-Person/Virtual) Council and Committee Meetings
	4.1.45 Internal Policy I-021: Guidancefor New Committee Chairs
	4.1.46 Announcement of Election Results
	4.1.47 Distribution of Election information dated January 26, 2023
	4.1.48 Distribution of Candidate Biographies in District 6 dated March 6, 2023
	4.1.49 Distribution of further Candidate information in District 6 dated March 10, 2023
	4.1.50 Distribution of ballots in District 6 dated March 13, 2023
	4.1.51 Communication from OCA re:Voting for 2023 Elections to CCO Council
	4.1.54 S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals
	4.1.55 Historical Correspondence re:Chiropractic Care of Animals with CVO
	4.1.56 New Discussion paper from Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs dated March 1,2023
	4.1.57 Correspondence dated February 16, 2023 to Ms Willson from Ms Caroline Brereton, CEO, OCA
	4.1.61 Hearing Tribunal Written Decision and Orders for the Hearing of Dr. Curtis Wall on January 27, 2023
	4.1.63 Letter to CCO dated March 7, 2023
	4.1.64 CCGI Stakeholder Report –March 2023
	4.1.65 HPRO Remarks to Ontario’s Standing Committee on Social Policy Bill 60 Your Health Act, 2023 (March 21, 2023)
	4.1.66 HPRO Correspondence dated March 10, 2023, re: Registration Open for Spring 2023 Discipline Orientation Workshop – Basic and Advanced Sessions
	4.1.67 HPRO Legislative Update for February 2023
	4.1.68 Michael Venneri v. College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario
	4.2 Quality Assurance Committee Report
	4.2.3 Responses of CCO Members Registered in the General (i.e., Active) Class of Registration for 2023 Renewal of Selected Practice-Related Questions
	4.3 Registration Committee Report
	4.3.1 CCO distribution of proposed amendments to Registration Regulation (Emergency Class of Registration) February 28, 2023
	4.3.2 Communication with the Ministry re: CCO’s Emergency Class –Regulatory Registry Posting
	4.3.3 Feedback as of April 10, 2023
	4.3.4 Application for Temporary Certificate of Registration (draft)
	4.3.5 Application for Temporary Certificate of Registration (current)
	4.3.6 CCO’s 2021 Fair Registration Practices Report
	4.3.7 Notification dated March 15, 2023 re: Fair Registration Practice reporting
	4.3.8 OFC Newsletter dated March 2023 - Regulator Spotlight
	6.1 Chiropractic and Manual Therapies (2023) “A two-year follow up:Twitter activity regarding misinformation about spinal manipulation chiropractic care and boosting immunity during the COVID-19 pandemic”
	6.2 Press Release dated March 30, 2023“Province Helping More Ontario Students Become Doctors at Home in Ontario”
	6.3 Announcement dated April 5, 2023“CPSO Removes Barriers forInternationally Educated Physicians”
	6.4 CTV news March 24, 2023 “Coun. Josh Matlow broke code of conducton Twitter, should face 10-day pay suspension, says commissioner”
	6.5 Grey Areas (March 2023)
	6.6 Council Members Terms (dated March 17, 2023)



